27 1992 CLERK, SUPREME COURT By. Chief Deputy Clerk

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

FRANCIS GENE JEFFRIES,

Petitioner,

v.

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

CASE NO. 80,166

# PETITIONER'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

NANCY A. DANIELS PUBLIC. DEFENDER ND JUDICIAL CIRCUIT P. D FLOROUGLAS BRINKMEYER A BORIDA BAR #197890 ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER LEON COUNTY COURTHOUSE FOURTH FLOOR, NORTH 301 SOUTH MONROE STREET TALLAHASSEE, FLORIDA 32301 (904) 488-2458

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

#

# PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

Petitioner was the defendant in the trial court, and will be referred to as petitioner in this brief. A two volume record on appeal will be referred to as "R" followed by the appropriate page number in parentheses. A two volume trial transcript will be referred to as "T." A one volume sentencing transcript will be referred to as "S." Attached hereto as an appendix is the decision of the lower tribunal.

#### II STATEMENT OF THE CASE

By amended information filed November 9, **1989**, petitioner was charged with attempted escape and possession of a weapon by a prisoner (**R** 1). The cause proceeded to jury trial on February **28**, 1991, and at the conclusion thereof petitioner was found guilty as charged (R **169**). Petitioner's timely motion for new trial (R 176) was denied by written order filed March 14, 1991 (R **194**).

On April 1, 1991, petitioner was adjudicated guilty and sentenced **as** an habitual offender on each count to 20 years in prison, to run concurrently, but consecutively to his present sentence (R 211-15).

On April 4, 1991, a timely notice of appeal was filed (R 217). On June 28, 1991, the Public Defender of the Second Judicial Circuit was designated to represent petitioner.

On appeal, petitioner argued he was entitled to a jury instruction on the defense of necessity. The lower tribunal affirmed on this issue, finding insufficient evidence to support the instruction. Appendix at 1-2. Petitioner also argued that he could not have been classified **as** an habitual offender by the very terms of the statute. The lower tribunal affirmed on this issue **as** well, but certified the question. Appendix at **2**.

On July 13, 1992, a timely notice of discretionary review was filed.

### III STATEMENT OF FACTS

Correctional officer Dale Pfalzgraf went into petitioner's cell at Florida State Prison on January 27, 1989, and shook the window screen. It was secure (T 41-44).

Correctional officer Billy Coleman testified that on February 5, 1989, he went into petitioner's cell. The screen over petitioner's window was loose, and the T-shaped bars came right out of the window. A person could climb out of the window. He found toothbrushes which had been melted down to hold razor blades and a rope made out of sheets colored blue. Both of the items are not permitted in the prison (T 30-39).

Prison inspector Ron Davis determined that the entire window screen had been cut around the framing and a T-shaped section of the bars had also been freshly cut. Photos of the area were entered into evidence without objection, as were the two items of alleged contraband (T 45-65).

Over objection, the witness was permitted to testify that the toothbrush with the razor blades could fit between the frame and the window screen. Petitioner had been assigned that cell on January 18 (T66-73).

Captain Donald P. Bryant testified that the objects found in petitioner's cell were not authorized (T 73-76). The state rested (T 76). Petitioner's motion for acquittal was denied (T 79-81).

Clinical psychologist Harry Krop testified that petitioner was insane at the time of the offenses. He had been suffering from delusional paranoid disorders for 10 years, according to

medical records. Petitioner believed he had holes in his head and metal in his body. He believed someone was blowing dust from light bulbs into his body. He believed DOC officers were conspiring to poison him and throw **glass** at him. He believed his life was in danger (T 84-99).

Over objection on cross examination, Dr. Krop was permitted to testify that petitioner understood the criminal process and was not suicidal (T109-11). Petitioner believed he was justified in trying to escape to save himself from death in the prison (T125).

Prison psychological specialist Robert Miller testified that prior to February 5, petitioner thought people were throwing ground-up glass into his cell and placing it in his food. Petitioner had made the same complaint many times over five years (T 131-36).

Petitioner, age 54, testified that other inmates were blowing light bulb glass on him. After he moved into that cell, it continued to be done through little tubes. It made him real nervous, gave him headaches, and sick to his stomach. He cut the window screen and the bars. He wanted to stay in the psychiatric wing instead of going to Chattahoochee. He once had a mask to place over his mouth but it was taken away. His ears had been eaten **up** by the light bulb dust. He wanted to leave his cell and get a five gallon can of gasoline from the paint shed **and** burn **up** the people who were doing these things to him. The window had been cut for three or four days, and he could have left at any time. He was afraid of being

harmed by the light bulb glass. He wished he could bring some of the dust to court (T 137-46).

Upon cross examination, the prosecutor asked petitioner if he had filed a motion to remove the public defender (R 57-59). Counsel objected to the question because it was irrelevant and asked for a mistrial. The prosecutor argued that petitioner's motion alleged that he wanted to present **a** defense of insanity and necessity, and this was relevant to the credibility of Dr. Krop. The court denied the motion for mistrial and ruled that the matter was relevant to the credibility of petitioner (T 150-55).

The prosecutor was permitted to show in front of the jury that petitioner wanted counsel to present an insanity and necessity defense (T 156-57). On redirect examination, petitioner testified that he was upset with his attorney because she wanted to present an insanity defense and petitioner did not want to go to Chattahoochee or have anyone think he was crazy. He withdrew the motion after he had filed it (T 158-60).

Psychiatrist Umesh Mhatre testified in rebuttal that he reviewed petitioner's mental health records briefly and interviewed him. He testified over objection that petitioner understood the charges **and** the adversarial process (T162-67). He further testified that petitioner stated that the screen and bars had been already cut by someone else. He did not believe that petitioner had any mental illness at the time of the crime, but only an antisocial personality (T 167-73).

Dr. Mhatre had not reviewed petitioner's medical records nor spoken with prison psychological specialist Robert Miller to confirm that petitioner had complained about the light **bulb** dust for 10 years (T**177-78**; 187).

The state rested, and petitioner's renewed motion for acquittal (T190) was denied (T195).

Petitioner requested a special jury instruction (R 133-34) on the defense of necessity. The request was denied (T 190-95), and renewed after the jury was instructed (T 214). After 45 minutes of deliberation, the jury returned its guilty verdicts (T 216).

The category 9 sentencing guidelines scoresheet contained a total of **372** points and called for a recommended range of **17-22** years on both offenses (R **197**).

The state had filed notice of intent to classify petitioner **as** an habitual violent and/or habitual offender (R **107).** At sentencing **on** April 1, 1991, the prosecutor related petitioner's prior convictions, and stated that petitioner was only still serving a 35 year sentence from Walton County for burglary with an assault **(S** 9-10).

The state asked the court to take judicial notice of petitioner's prior convictions (S 10). They are found in the record as follows:

petitioner received **a** one year sentence (R 184);

a 1980 Walton County conviction for burglary of a structure and assault, case no. 80-23 for which petitioner received a 35 year sentence (R 185-86);

a 1971 Santa Rosa County conviction for statutory rape, case no. 71-1-90, for which petitioner received a 10 year sentence (R 187-91); and

a 1971 Escambia County conviction for kidnapping, **case** no. **71-1578**, for which petitioner received a 10 year sentence (R 192-93).

Petitioner's counsel argued that petitioner did not have **a** prior conviction within 5 years of the instant offenses, and should not be classified as an habitual offender (S13). The court disagreed, found petitioner to be an habitual offender, and imposed the sentences noted above (T15-20). The lower tribunal affirmed them on authority of <u>Smith v. State</u>, 584 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2nd DCA 1991), but certified the question.

# IV SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Petitioner will attack his habitual offender sentences, on a ground which is different from the usual ones. He did not qualify at all for habitual offender treatment under the express terms of the applicable statute because his last prior felonies were in 1980 and 1981, more than 5 years before the instant offenses, and he had never been released from prison. The lower tribunal and the Second District in <u>Smith</u> both rewrote the habitual offender statute to cover the situation where a state prisoner does not have the necessary prior convictions within the last five years. This the courts cannot do, since the habitual offender statute must be strictly construed, and because this Court has construed it according to its literal meaning. The proper remedy is to **vacate** the habitual offender sentences and remand for resentencing under the guidelines.

Petitioner will also ask this Court, because it already has jurisdiction over the case due to the certified question, to **reverse** for a new trial, Petitioner will argue that the lower court erred in denying his request for a special jury instruction on the defense of necessity. Petitioner presented evidence that he was in fear of bodily injury or death at the prison from other people blowing light bulb glass dust on him. **As** weak or improbable **as** it may be, petitioner was entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of defense. The proper remedy is to reverse the judgment and sentence and remand for a new trial.

#### V ARGUMENT

#### ISSUE I

UNDER THE REQUIREMENTS OF THE HABITUAL OFFENDER STATUTE, SECTION 775.084(1)(A)2., FLORIDA STATUTES (1988 SUPP.), THAT THE OFFENSE FOR WHICH A DEFENDANT IS BEING SENTENCED BE COMMITTED WITHIN FIVE YEARS OF HIS RELEASE FROM A PRISON SENTENCE IMPOSED AS A RESULT OF A PRIOR CONVICTION, A DEFENDANT, WHO IS STILL IN PRISON UNDER THE SENTENCE IMPOSED FOR SUCH PRIOR CONVICTION AT THE TIME HE COMMITS A NEW OFFENSE, CANNOT BE SENTENCED AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER.

Petitioner was serving a 35 year sentence from **1980** from Walton County for burglary with an assault at the time of the instant offenses, which occurred on February **5**, 1989 (S 9-10). At sentencing, the state asked the court to take judicial notice of petitioner's prior convictions (S 10). They are found in the record as follows:

escape, case no. 64-98, for which petitioner received **a** one year sentence (**R** 184);

the 1980 Walton County conviction for burglary of a structure and assault, case no. 80-23 for which petitioner received a 35 year sentence (R 185-86);

a 1971 Santa Rosa County conviction for statutory rape, case no. 71-1-90, for which petitioner received a 10 year sentence (R 187-91); and a 1971 Escambia County conviction for

kidnapping, **case** no. 71-1578, for which petitioner received a 10 year sentence (R **192-93)**.

Petitioner's counsel argued that petitioner did not have **a** prior conviction within 5 years of the instant offenses, and should not be classified **as** an habitual offender **(S** 13). The court disagreed, found petitioner to be an habitual offender, and imposed 20 year habitual offender sentences (R 211-15; T 15-20). The court found petitioner to be an habitual offender because:

[T]he **case** that you are being sentenced on occurred within five years of the sentence that you're currently serving, you being a DOC prisoner at the time of the commission of the offense that you're being sentenced on at the time ... (T 16-17).

Petitioner again contends that he did not qualify as an habitual offender because he did not have a prior conviction within 5 years prior to February 5, 1989, and he had not been released from prison since the prior sentence was imposed in 1980. The court's finding that state prisoners can be habitual offenders even if they do not have **a** conviction within 5 years is not the law because it is not within the statute.

The operative statute provides:

The felony for which the defendant is to be sentenced **was** committed within 5 years of the date of the conviction of the last prior felony or other qualified offense of which he was convicted, <u>or</u> within 5 years of the defendant's release, on parole or otherwise, from a prison sentence or other commitment imposed as a result of **a** prior conviction for a felony or other qualified offense, <u>whichever is</u> <u>later</u>

Section 775.084(1)(a)2., Florida Statutes (1988 Supp.). Thus, for one to be an habitual offender, he must have had **a** prior felony conviction within 5 years or he must have been released from prison within 5 years. Since petitioner was never released from prison since his last felony conviction, and since his last felony convictions occurred in 1981 and 1980, he

could not be sentenced as an habitual offender for a 1989 crime.

Penal statutes must be strictly construed in favor of the defendant. Section 775.021(1), Florida Statutes: <u>Rogers v.</u> <u>Cunningham</u>, 117 Fla. 760, 158 So. 430 (1934). The courts may not read into a penal statute an element which the legislature did not place there:

The Florida Constitution requires a certain precision defined by the legislature, not legislation articulated by the judiciary.

Brown v. State, 358 So.2d 16, 20 (Fla. 1978), citing art. 11, \$3, Fla. Const., and quoted with approval recently in <u>Schmitt</u> v. State, 590 So.2d 404, 414 (Fla. 1991).

This Court has strictly construed the habitual offender statute. See, e.g., <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 595 So.2d **22, 24** (Fla. **1992)** (allowing prior convictions non-sequential):

> While we agree that the underlying philosophy of a habitual offender statute **may** be better served by **a** sequential conviction requirement, we agree with the district court that <u>the current statute is</u> <u>clear and unambiguous</u> and contains no sequential conviction requirement. Under these circumstances, <u>this Court has no</u> <u>authority to change the plain meaning of a</u> <u>statute where the legislature has</u> <u>unambiguously expressed its intent</u>. (emphasis added).

In <u>Trott v. State</u>, 579 So.2d 807 (Fla. 5th DCA 1991), the defendant entered a plea to a 1990 crime and agreed to an habitual offender sentence of **as** much as **27** years. He received that sentence, but as an habitual violent offender. His prior record included a **1972** conviction for armed robbery and a 1985

conviction for auto theft. The state argued that Trott had agreed to an habitual violent offender sentence and could not attack it on appeal. The court disagreed and held that Trott could not agree **to** an illegal sentence. The sentence was illegal because:

> [I]t does not establish an habitual violent felon status because the previous violent felony was neither committed nor the offender released from confinement within five years from the present offense.

Id. at **808**; emphasis added. While petitioner was not declared an habitual violent offender like Mr. Trott, the principle is the same -- one must have a prior conviction within 5 years, or be released within 5 years, to satisfy the clear language of the statute.

In <u>Allen v. State</u>, 487 So.2d 410 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986), the defendant was released from prison on probation, and committed another crime more than 5 years after his release from prison but within 5 years of the termination of his probation. The state argued that the termination of his probation was the operative date. The court rejected that view, strictly construed the statute, and held under the plain meaning of the 1983 statute, which is the same as the 1988 statute quoted above, that he did not qualify as an habitual offender because his new crime did not occur within 5 years of his release from prison.

The lower tribunal followed <u>Allen</u> in <u>Lewis v. State</u>, 577 So.2d 686 (Fla. 1st DCA 1991). The entire opinion on this issue is:

[W]e reverse the petitioner's designation as **a** [sic] habitual violent felony offender, finding that there was insufficient evidence that petitioner's imprisonment for the prior felony ended less than five years before he committed the present felony.

Id. at 687.

It may be incongruous to exclude as habitual offenders those who are **able** to complete 5 years' probation after release from prison without committing another new crime, but that is what the statute says in "clear and unambiguous" terms, and neither this Court nor the lower tribunal has the power to rewrite the statute. State v. Barnes, supra.

It may likewise be incongruous to exclude as habitual offenders those who are able to serve a state prison sentence for at least 5 years without committing another crime while in prison, But the legislature has done so by the plain wording of the statute quoted above, and this Court has no power to rewrite the statute to make it applicable to petitioner's situation. State v. Barnes, supra.

The Second District apparently does not share this view. In <u>Smith v. State</u>, **584** \$0.2d 1107 (**Fla.** 2nd **DCA** 1991), the court judicially rewrote the statute and replaced the word "within" with the words "no later than" to uphold an habitual offender sentence for **a** prisoner who had not been released from his prior sentence before committing a new crime.

The lower tribunal adopted the <u>Smith</u> view in the instant case, <u>Smith</u> was wrongly decided and the lower tribunal was wrong to adopt it. To judicially rewrite the statute to make

it fit a particular defendant's situation violates all principles of statutory construction and this Court's admonition in <u>State v. Barnes</u>. The strict construction of the statute by the Fourth District in <u>Allen</u> and the Fifth District in <u>Trott</u> comply with this Court's view in <u>State v. Barnes</u>. Petitioner did not qualify as an habitual offender, and so his sentences must be reversed. ISSUE II THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN DENYING PETITIONER'S REQUESTED JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE DEFENSE OF NECESSITY BECAUSE HE PRESENTED SUFFICIENT EVIDENCE TO SUPPORT THAT REQUEST.

Petitioner was prosecuted on **a** theory that his removal of the the window screen and bars constituted an attempted escape. Petitioner requested a special jury instruction on defense of necessity:

> If you find from the evidence that the Defendant, Francis Gene Jefferies [sic], had reasonable grounds to believe that there was a real, imminent, and impending danger to him of death or serious bodily harm if he did not leave or attempt to leave the place from which he was confined and that he left or attempted to leave because of such danger, rather than with the intent to avoid lawful confinement, you should find him not guilty of the crime of attempted escape. (R 134).

The request was denied (T190-95), and renewed after the jury was instructed (T 214). This **was** reversible error, because the defendant is always allowed to have his jury instructed on his theory of defense, and especially under the facts of this case.

This Court has jurisdiction to address this issue and grant a new trial because it has accepted review of the certified question. In both <u>State v. Smith</u>, 573 So.2d 306 (Fla. 1990) and <u>Bunney v. State</u>, 17 FLW S383 (Fla. July 2, 1992), this Court examined issues after it had disposed of the certified questions, and granted new trials.

The lower tribunal has held that a defendant is entitled to have the jury instructed on his theory of defense, "regardless of how weak or improbable it may be." Solomon v.

<u>State</u>, 436 So.2d **1041** (Fla. 1st **DCA** 1983) (emphasis added). The lower tribunal failed to follow <u>Solomon</u> here and recognize that petitioner had presented sufficient evidence to support his necessity defense. Even though reasonable people may have found it to be somewhat incredible, the judge had no right to remove it from the jury's consideration.

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