047

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

SIN J. WHITE

1992

SUPRÈME COURT

Chief Deputy Clerk

FRANCIS GENE JEFFRIES,

Petitioner,

٧.

CASE NO.: 80,166

STATE OF FLORIDA,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S BRIEF ON THE MERITS

ROBERT A. BUZTERWORTH ATTORNEY GENERAL

CHARLIE MCCOY
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL
ELORIDA BAR #0333646

JAMES W. ROGERS SENIOR ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL FLORIDA BAR #325791

DEPARTMENT OF LEGAL AFFAIRS THE CAPITOL TALLAHASSEE, FL 32399-1050 (904) 488-0600

COUNSEL FOR RESPONDENT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

This case is before the Court on a certified question. Jeffries' second issue is ancillary to that question. Therefore the State's answer to that issue will be in two parts: the first addressing jurisdictional considerations; the second, addressing the merits.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The State accepts Jeffries' statement,

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

The State accepts Jeffries' statement.

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

ISSUE I: Applicability of Habitual Felon Statute to Incarcerated Felon

By providing a five-year "window," after which a prior felony conviction (or release from imprisonment) cannot be used to invoke the habitual felony offender statute, the Legislature has granted recidivist felons a reprieve. This reprieve - in the nature of a statue of limitations - must not be interpreted unreasonably, to preclude the statue's application to a repeat felon who has not been released. The plain meaning of the statute does not require such. Jeffries, who committed another felony while in the eleventh year of 35 year sentence, must not get the benefit of his own wrongdoing.

ISSUE II: Defense of Necessity

This issue is not remotely related to the certified question. While the Court has jurisdiction to entertain this issue, the State respectfully suggests that further review would be improvident.

On the merits, Jeffries failed to demonstrate that his attempted escape was motivated by a real and present danger of great bodily harm if he did not immediately leave the confinement of his cell. Having failed to adduce any evidence substantiating the defense of necessity, Jeffries was not entitled to a jury instruction on that defense.

ARGUMENT

ISSUE I

WHETHER THE STATUTORY DEFIN TION OF AN "HABITUAL FELONY OFFENDER" SHOULD BE INTERPRETED TO ALLOW AN INCARCERATED FELON TO COMMIT NEW FELONIES AT WILL YET NOT BE TREATED AS AN HABITUAL OFFENDER.

The statement of the issue answers itself and the certified question 1. Not constitutionally required to do so, the Legislature has placed a five-year "window" -- akin to a statute of limitation -- upon the use of a prior felony conviction or release from prison to invoke the habitual felon statute. If a "released" felon abides by the law for five years, that person is not, as a matter of public policy, deemed a sufficient threat to society to trigger the statute.

Jeffries did not complete one third² of his present sentence before committing another felony. For him, the five-year limitation on use of a prior conviction had not yet began to run, since he had not been released.

¹ The prolix question reads: "Under the requirement of the habitual offender statute, section 775.084 (1)(a)2, Florida Statutes (1988 Supp.), that the offense for which a defendant is being sentenced be committed with five years of his release from a prison sentence imposed as a result of a prior conviction, can a defendant, who is still in prison under the sentence imposed for such prior conviction at the time he commits a new offense, be sentenced as an habitual offender?(slip op. at p.2)

 $^{^2}$ Jeffries had served about 11 years of his 35 year sentence for burglary of a structure with an assault, when he attempted to escape, etc. (R 199-205, S 10).

Relying primarily on a principle of statutory interpretation, Jeffries argues that the statute be strictly constructed in his favor. Unfortunately for him, the plain meaning of the statute controls, thereby precluding his argument and substantiating his sentence.

Specifically, Jeffries first relies upon Rogers v. Cunningham, 117 Fla. 760, 158 So. 430 (1930) for the proposition that penal statutes must be strictly constructed. He argues that the "courts may not read into a penal statue an element which the legislature did not place there. (initial brief, p.11). Jeffries' reliance on this principle is unavailing. The plain meaning of §775.084(1)(a)2 does not require that a recidivist felon be released from prison in order to be classified as an "habitual felony offender." That statute - as a matter of legislative grace³ - merely places a temporal limit on use of past convictions. If release or conviction occurred more than five years before the crime for which an enhanced sentence is sought, that release or conviction is considered too remote to trigger the habitual felon statute. However, nothing

Until amended in 1971 by §5, ch. 71-136 (effective Jan. 1, 1972), Florida's repeat felon statute authorized an enhanced sentence for a defendant upon the second conviction, without any requirement that the first offense have been committed within a certain time. See 8775.09, Fla. Stat. (1969). See also Barnes, supra, 595 \$0.2d at 23-4 (discussing the "legal theory" underlying older versions of the statute).

in the statute requires release from prison $\underline{\text{before}}$ the statute can be applied at all. 4

The plain meaning of the statute calls for this result. Consequently, there is no reason to invoke the rule of interpretation - i.e., strict construction - urged by Jeffries. See Pardo v. State, 596 So.2d 665, 667 (Fla. 1992) (construing the statutory hearsay exception for prior statements by a child victim of sex abuse, and declaring that "it is a fundamental principle of statutory construction that where the language of a statute is plain and unambiguous there is no occasion for judicial interpretation").

As this court recently said, in construing the same statutory provision (among others) at issue here, "the current statute is clear and unambiguous . . [u]nder these circumstances, this Court has no authority to change the plain

It should be noted that the issue in <u>Rogers</u>, supra, was the definition of an offense, not the punishment itself. The Florida Legislature has adopted rules of construction which by their terms limit the rule of lenity to the definition of criminal offenses, not their punishment. <u>See</u> §775.021(1), Florida Statutes, "The provisions of this code and offenses defined by other statutes shall be strictly construed; when the language is susceptible of differing constructions, it shall be construed most favorably to the accused." Note the words "offense" and "accused" and the rule that the expression of one serves to exclude the unexpressed, See, also §775.021(4)(b), where the Legislature disavows lenity in sentencing as a means of determining legislative intent. This distinction the legislature is drawing is presumably based on the presumption of innocence afforded on accused which disappears after a guilty verdict.

meaning," <u>State v. Barnes</u>, 595 So.2d 22, 24 (Fla. 1992)(citations omitted).

The plain meaning of §775.084(1)(a) includes no requirement that a repeat felon's most recent crime be committed after release from prison. It provides only that if release has occurred more than five years earlier, then a felon's criminal past is not sufficiently recent to invoke the statute. Since the plain meaning of the statute precludes Jeffries' interpretation, this court has no authority to change the statute to conform to that interpretation. There is no need to go further to deny relief.

Should the Court resort to rules of statutory interpretation, it must adhere to the ang-standing principle statutes cannot be interpreted to reach absurd or unreasonable results. In this regard, the Second District's decision in Smith v. State, 584 So.2d 1107 (Fla. 2d DCA 1991), is directly on point. There, the defendant argued that he could not be sentenced as a habitual violent felony offender because, at the time he committed the new offense, he had not yet been released from prison. The court stated:

> recagnize that section 775.084(1)(b)2provides that the offense far which defendant sentenced as a violent habitual is being offender be "within 5 years of defendant's release . . from a prison sentence , . . imposed as a result of a prior conviction . . " However, we conclude that the legislature intended the word "within" in

the statutory context to mean "no The offense for which defendant was being sentenced in this case was no later than his release from prison for such prior conviction; in fact, he had evidently not released. The statutory interpretation contended by defendant would irrational, and in interpreting legislative intent in the case of differing possible interpretations, rationality may properly be the guide.

Id. at 1108.

Jeffries relies on <u>Trott v. State</u>, **579** So.2d **807** (Fla. 5th **DCA** 1991), in which the defendant's agreed-upon sentence as an habitual violent felon was held illegal. That holding was based on the fact that Trott's predicate "violent" felony (armed robbery) was committed in 1972, and his release from prison was in 1984 (<u>id</u>. at 807, n.1); more than five years before felonies at issue. Since Trott had been released from prison for his predicate offense, the five year time limit applied. Factually and legally, <u>Trott</u> is not applicable, since he was not incarcerated when he committed his most recent crimes.

Allen v. State, 487 So.2d 410 (Fla. 4th DCA 1986) is equally unavailing to Jeffries. The defendant had been convicted and released more that 5 years before his most recent crimes. The Allen court correctly interpreted identical language from a predecessor statute to disapprove the sentence imposed. Allen simply has no bearing on the facts at hand; that is, on a felon who repeats such crimes while still in prison.

The statutory interpretation urged by Jeffries is as irrational as the interpretation argued by the defendant in Smith, supra. Jeffries would "exhalts form over substance to the detriment of public policy, and such a result is clearly absurd." Williams v. State, 492 So.2d 1051, 1054 (Fla. 1986); State v. Webb, 398 So.2d 820, 824 (Fla. 1981) ("construction of a statute which would lead to an absurd or unreasonable result or would render a statue purposeless should be avoided"). This Court must decline to adopt Jeffries' interpretation of the habitual felony offender statute, and affirm his sentence.

ISSUE II

WHETHER THE TRIAL COURT ERRED IN REFUSING TO GIVE A JURY INSTRUCTION ON THE DEFENSE OF NECESSITY WHEN JEFFRIES DID NOT PRESENT ANY EVIDENCE THAT WOULD SUBSTANTIATE SUCH DEFENSE.

A. Jurisdictional considerations

Even a cursory comparison of the issue raised by the certified question (applicability of habitual felon statue) and this issue (propriety of refusal to instruct jury on defense of necessity) reveals the lack of connection between the two. Further review of this issue is not needed, even remotely, to dispose of the certified question. The State respectfully

⁵ Even Jeffries admits that the result reached may seem "incongruous." (initial brief, p.13).

suggests that the Court not exercise its authority to review ancillary issues.

In Ross v. State, 17 FLW S367 (Fla. June 18 1992), the petitioner raised several issues in addition to the issue (canstitutionality of 1988 habitual felon statute) upon which jurisdiction rested. This Court refused to decide them, and declared: "The remaining issues lie beyond the scope of the issue for which jurisdiction lies, and we see no need to exercise our prerogative to reach them." Id. at \$368.

The declaration in <u>Ross</u> is significant in substance and context. It represents a recent example of this Court's laudable restraint in declining to re-decide issues unnecessarily. It also illustrates an oft-repeated sce ario of late: a discontented petitioner bootstrapping unrelated issues onto the multitude of habitual felon questions certified by the First District.

This Court should decline review of this issue. <u>See Stephens v. State</u>, 572 So.2d 1387 (Fla. 199) ("We do not reach the other issue raised by the parties, which lies beyond the scope of the certified question). Doing so respects the role of the district courts. <u>Trushin v. State</u>, 425 So.2d 1126, 1130 (Fla. 1982)("{W}e recognize the function of the district courts as court of final jurisdiction and will refrain from using that authority [to review "ancillary" issues] unless those issues

affect the outcome of the petition after review of the certified case," 3. Here, the certified "case" rests on circumstances affecting the applicability of the felon statue, which was invoked to enhance Jeffries' penalty. Nevertheless, he inappropriately seeks review of a ruling ultimately related to his guilt. This Court need not repeat the First District's effort on a settled point of law correctly decided under the evidence adduced.

B. Response on Merits

Should the Court be inclined to consider the merits, the State presents its answer. Jeffries asserts that the trial court erred in refusing to instruct the jury on his theoretical defense of necessity. He contends that this instruction should have been given, regardless of how improbable his testimony might have been; that he cut his prison cell window screen and bars because he was being harmed by light bulb glass dust.

A defendant is entitled to raise the limited defense of necessity to a charge of escape by demonstrating that he had:

reasonable grounds to **believe** that he is faced with a real, imminent and present danger of death, great bodily harm, or such type of danger to his health, if the does not temporarily leave his place of confinement.

<u>Watford v. State</u>, 353 So.2d 1263, 1265 (Fla. 1st DCA 1978). In <u>State v. Alcantaro</u>, 407 So.2d 922 (Fla. 1st DCA 1981), <u>rev. denied</u>, 413 So.2d 875 (Fla. 1982), the court enunciated five conditions which must be shown prior to the giving of an instruction on necessity. Here, Jeffries' claim that he was entitled to an instruction on the necessity defense fails because he cannot to demonstrate <u>Alcantaro</u>'s first condition;

⁶ In Count I, Jeffries was charged with attempted escape from the Florida State Prison, in violation of Section 944.40, Fla. Stat. (1989), which provides that any prisoner confined in prison who escapes or attempts to escape from such confinement shall be guilty of a second degree felony. (R 1).

that he was "faced with a specific threat of death, forcible sexual attack or substantial bodily injury in the immediate future." Id. at 925.

Initially, the reason which Jeffries gave for cutting the window screen and bars in his prison cell was <u>not</u> to escape from the harmful light bulb glass. Rather, Jeffries testified on direct examination that he cut the bars because he was:

going to get even with some people for putting stuff on me, because nobody else would do it. There was a five-gallon can of gasoline right out in a little shed not too far away. I'd already told all of them I was going to go out there and burn them all up that was blowing stuff on me. That's what I was getting out for. (T 143).

On cross-examination, Jeffries emphasized that he:

cut the bars to get out to get to some gas. That's what I told the jury. I think all of them heard me real plain. (T 148).

The crucial issue of whether Jeffries was fearful for his life, or in fear of great bodily harm, arose only briefly after defense counsel asked him the following question:

- Q. [Defense counsel]: Were you in fear of your life or that you would be seriously harmed physically ok mentally if you did not try to leave or get some sort of help?
- A. Well, if you're eating ground-up glass in your food, what are you going to be? Do you think it's going -- you're not going to have some fear there? (T 145)

Jeffries testified that the light bulb glass dust which was blown on him made him "real nervous," made his "head ache, makes you sick to your stomach," and that both his "ears have been eat up by this stuff in the last year." (T 141-2). His cursory testimony is a far cry from the defendant's explicit testimony in Muro v. State, 445 So.2d 374, 376 (Fla. 3d DCA 1984). There, the court found that the defendant clearly apprehended an imminent threat to his safety, based upon a prior beating by fellow prisoners, and their promises to kill him upon his return to prison.

Here, Jeffries did not present evidence sufficient to raise the necessity defense. It is obvious that he did not act as he did because he was "faced with a specific threat of death, forcible sexual attack or substantial bodily injury in the immediate future." Alcantaro, 407 So.2d at 925 (emphasis supplied). Jeffries was quite candid about his real motive in cutting the screen and bars. He wanted to get gasoline and burn those whom he believed were blowing light bulb glass on him. He admitted that the screen and bars had been cut for three or four days, and that he could have left his cell at any time. (T144).

Had Jeffries claimed as his sole reason for cutting the cell screen and bars the fact that he was in fear for his life or health, he still would have failed to present evidence sufficient to raise a defense of necessity. Jeffries' personal belief that people were blowing light bulb glass dust on him is not a

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